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SUMMARY 

Number 10 Lower Hathershelf (NGR: SE 02618 25235) is a stone house with rear outshut 

and cross wings, dated to 1671 but containing remnants of the late medieval timber frame of 

an open hall, which may have had a rear aisle.  Historic building recording, comprising 

photographic and drawn surveys, was carried out between March and June 2012 for the 

owners Mr & Mrs Armsden, to fulfil a condition of planning consent for the house’s 

refurbishment. 
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10 LOWER HATHERSHELF, HATHERSHELF LANE, LUDDENDEN FOOT, WEST 

YORKSHIRE: 

 

HISTORIC BUILDING RECORD 

 
 
1 Introduction 

 

1.1 This report presents the results of historic building recording of No. 10 Lower 

Hathershelf, part of an early house at Luddenden Foot, near Halifax, West 

Yorkshire.  The work was carried out between March and June 2012 and 

commissioned by the owners and developers Mr & Mrs Armsden, via their 

agents Hawdon Russell Architects, to discharge a condition attached to planning 

consent for alterations to the building, which is listed, grade II. 

 

1.2 The building recorded occupies the majority of a farmhouse with pair of cross 

wings, whose stonework is dated to 1671, but which has remnants of an earlier 

timber frame representing a late medieval hall, which may have had a rear aisle. 

 

1.3 The recording work was carried out in accordance with a specification from the 

West Yorkshire Archaeology Advisory Service (WYAAS) (Appendix 1), and 

involved historical research, and photographic, drawn and written recording.  

This report will be submitted to the client, the West Yorkshire Historic 

Environment Record and the West Yorkshire Archive Service, and will be 

published on the internet via the OASIS project (ID: stephenh1-130659). 

 

1.4 The report has been revised in March 2013 to adhere more closely to the 

requirements of the specification, at the request of Elizabeth Chamberlin of 

WYAAS. 

 

2 Location and current use 

 

2.1 Lower Hathershelf stands to the north of Hathershelf Lane, just west of its 

junction with Scout Road and Sowerby Lane, about 1km west of Luddenden 

Foot, on the south side of the Calder valley some 6km west of Halifax town 

centre.  The national grid reference for the site is SE 02618 25235 and the 

postcode is HX2 6JH; it lies at 180m above sea level, in an area characterised 

by grassland enclosed by dry-stone walls and dispersed, clustered settlements; 

Middle and Upper Hathershelf occupy sites further up Hathershelf Lane, to the 

south-west. 

 

2.2 The hamlet of Lower Hathershelf comprises six dwellings in three separate 

buildings, with the main house itself being subdivided into two dwellings, and the 

remainder within a cottage to the south-east and a converted barn to the north.  
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This report is concerned with number 10, which occupies the main body and east 

wing of the house; the west wing (known as Heather Cottage) is in separate 

ownership. 

 

 

3 Planning background 

 

3.1 No 10 Lower Hathershelf and Heather Cottage are listed as having special 

architectural or historic interest (grade II), and the description reads:1 
House, now in 2 occupations initialled and dated "R M S 1671" (for Robert and Mary 

Swaine).  Large dressed stone, stone slate roof.  2 storeys.  3-room through-passage 

plan with western cross-wing which projects to front but is flush at rear.  All are 

double chamfered mullioned windows.  Gabled cross-wing has 9-light window with 

king mullion (6 + 3) with hoodmould over.  Over, to 1st floor, is mullioned and 

transomed window of 8 lights with stepped hoodmould which continues over former 

taking-in door (blocked) with monolithic jambs.  Finely moulded gothic coping to gable 

with finial.  Left hand return wall has 8-light chamfered mullioned window with 9-light 

window over to 1st floor with closer spaced mullions.  To right of windows disturbed 

stonework.  Right hand return wall has disturbed stonework where formerly a lateral 

stack may have been, now replaced by an internal stack.  Hall has impressive 

mullioned and transomed window of 18 lights with 2 king mullions.  Hoodmould over 

has initials to left and date to right forming label stops.  Over is gabled dormer with 

coping and finial and window with chamfered surround.  Doorway has Tudor arched 

lintel with stop chamfered surround.  Over, window with plain stone surrounds.  

Service end is gabled with coping, kneelers and finial.  8-light window with king 

mullion.  Over, to 1st floor, is mullioned and transomed 8-light window with 

hoodmould over.  2 stacks to ridge to either side of through-passage.  Single storey 

outshut to rear set between gabled wings.  Interior: Heavily jowled post on stylobat 

survives to rear of through-passage.  Housebody has scarf jointed spine beams, 

evidence of former bressumer removed when the large hall window was built.  It 

would appear that there was a single-aisled timber framed hall with an added stone 

cross-wing, probably early C17.  The hall was then encased in stone in 1671.  C. F. 

Stell, p.64-5, 76. 

 

3.2 Listed building consent for external and internal alterations to No. 10 was 

granted by Calderdale Council on 20 December 2011 (application number 

11/00770/LBC), and condition No. 4, attached at the request of the council’s 

archaeological advisor, WYAAS, requires architectural and archaeological 

recording before development. 

 

4 Previous investigative work 

 

4.1 The house was recognised as a significant example of local vernacular 

architecture, associated with an estate documented in the medieval period, by 

                                                
1 National Heritage list no: 1279108 
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the local antiquarian H P Kendall in 19142, and Stell investigated the building in 

the 1950s as part of his study of Pennine houses.3 His survey of the house 

included a sketch plan of the ground floor, showing the building largely as it now 

appears, and five photographs of the exterior.  He noted that 
Lower Hathershelf has been very much altered and is now three separate dwellings, 

but it also has a single wing in the proper position for a parlour.  The service end of 

the house is, however, given more consequence by a front gable with a large first 

floor window below.  Most of the house is of the date 1671 but there are indications 

that it incorporates the remains of an earlier building. 

 

5 Historical background 

 

5.1 Kendall’s account suggests that of the three settlements now known as Lower, 

Middle and Upper Hathershelf, the first named is the earliest, whose first known 

mention in surviving documents is in 1274, and which may have been one of 

seven vaccaries (cattle farms) run by the earls of Warren, lords of the manor of 

Wakefield.  It was listed among property conveyed from Richard Townley to John 

Bannister in 1523, in whose family it remained for several generations, until 

bequeathed by Edward Bannister to Edward Whittakers and his heirs, and later 

being acquired (by means which are not clear) by Robert Swaine, the son of 

Samuel and Mary Swaine, in 1670.  He is thought to have had Lower Hathershelf 

rebuilt or clad in stone at that time, when he put his and his wife Mary’s initials on 

the front, together with the date of 1671.  Swaine did not hold the property for 

long however, but sold it to Thomas Sunderland in 1708, whose will of 1721 

shows that he in turn left it to his cousin Susannah, the wife of John Normanton.  

Their son William inherited Lower Hathershelf in about 1754 (though at that time 

it seems to have been occupied by the tenant James Wilkinson), and left it to his 

own son William, in 1773.  The latter William Normanton left it c.1827 to his niece 

Sarah Thomas, wife of the manufacturer William Thomas, but with a reversionary 

interest to Sarah’s son (also William Thomas).  He acquired the estate in 1843 

but seven years later is reported as having sold it to John Hodgson, whose son 

James still owned it in 1914, though it seems that none of the Hodgson family 

actually lived there.4 

 

5.2 A township map of 1804 (figure 3) and accompanying survey show that by that 

date, the present cottages already stood to the east of the house, though the 

map is at too small a scale to draw firm conclusions regarding the outline of the 

main building.  William Normanton was listed as owner and occupier of the plot 

(no 532 in the schedule), which comprised “house barn garden cottage”, though 

                                                
2 Kendall, H P 1914 ‘Hathershelf’ in Transactions of the Halifax Antiquarian Society 1914, p135-155 
3 Stell, C F 1960 Vernacular architecture in a Pennine community Unpub MA thesis, University of 
Liverpool; Vol 1 pp44-45; Vol 2 pp64-65, 76 
4 Kendall, H P 1914 ‘Hathershelf’ in Transactions of the Halifax Antiquarian Society 1914, p135-155 



page 4 10 Lower Hathershelf, Hathershelf Lane, Luddenden Foot West Yorkshire: Historic Building Record 

 

August 2012 (revised March 2013) Stephen Haigh Buildings Archaeologist 

it is possible that the house was already split between two or more households.5  

Another township map from 1840-1 shows slightly more detail, and numbers the 

house 2459, listed in the schedule as “house and garden”, owned by William 

Thomas and apparently comprising two households, occupied by himself and 

William Ogden.6  This is borne out by the census returns for 1841 which list four 

households at Lower Hathershelf (at least one of which must have been in the 

detached building to the south-east): their heads included William Thomas (aged 

50, farmer), another William Thomas (aged 75, independent means), William 

Ogden, and John Mitchell.  Ten years later six households were recorded, 

headed by: William Lumb, worsted spinner; William Pickles, farmer of 38 acres; 

George Ridehough, woolsorter; Abraham Sunderland, woolsorter; William 

Thomas, retired farmer; and Betty Foster, school mistress.  The Ordnance 

Survey first edition 6” to the mile map, surveyed in 1848-50 (figure 5), seems to 

show that the house had been extended to the east by this date, though it cannot 

be ascertained whether or not this change post-dated the two earlier manuscript 

maps.  Four households were recorded in 1861 and six in 1871, when William 

Thomas still lived at Lower Hathershelf as a retired farmer.  In 1881 Thomas 

Helliwell was farmer of 40 acres there, and headed one of six households: it 

seems likely that three of these occupied the main house and its extended east 

end, and three the detached cottages. 

 

5.3 An important source of information regarding the development of the house is a 

group of building plans submitted for building control approval in 1886 by T L 

Patchett, architect and surveyor of Halifax, on behalf of the owner James 

Hodgson.7  These include an existing block plan of the site, and floor plans of the 

centre of the house where major alterations were to take place, including the 

creation of a cellar (as found today), the removal of a projecting rear dairy, the 

replacement of “larders” at the rear with a new kitchen, accompanied by the 

reduction in size of the living room (housebody).  There were minor alterations to 

the stairs to accommodate the new steps down to the cellar, and also on the first 

floor, where a number of new partitions and fireplaces were proposed.  It is clear 

that at that time, the west wing, and the south-east room of the present house, 

did not form part of the main dwelling. 

 

5.4 Ordnance Survey maps of 1:2500 scale from between 1894 and 1933 show the 

farmhouse with the extension at the east end, and divided into three parts, but 

otherwise with little useful detail as regards its development (figures 6 to 9), but 

another building plan of 1955 shows that a new bathroom was to be created on 

                                                
5 WYAS Calderdale: SBS 3/1 A Plan of the Township of Sowerby… taken by R Dewhirst 1804; WYC 
1525/10/1/8/1/1 Bound valuation of Sowerby (1804) and Soyland (1803) 
6 WYAS Calderdale: SBS 4 Plan of the Township of Sowerby…. Surveyed in the years 1840 & 1841 
by C Crowther, Huddersfield; SPL 115 Valuation for Poor and Highway Rates, 1839, Sowerby and 
Sowerby Bridge area 
7 WYAS Calderdale: CMT20/BIP/SOW:135-138.  Copyright restrictions prevent reproduction 
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the first floor and a nearby fireplace removed.8  A photograph held by a 

neighbour and thought to have been taken about this time partly shows the 

cottage at the east end of the range (figure 10), as do two of Stell’s photographs, 

but the Ordnance Survey 1:2500 map of 19709 (surveyed in 1962), shows it to 

have been demolished, leaving only a small structure at the north-east corner. 

 

6 Recording methodology 

 

6.1 The recording was carried out in accordance with the specification issued by 

WYAAS (Appendix 1), between 12 March and 22 June 2012, and comprised 

drawn, photographic and written records.  The drawn record involved the 

production of cellar, ground and first floor plans at 1:100 scale, and a detailed 

drawing of surviving studs and other components of the timber frame at 1:20, 

showing all significant archaeological detail and using conventions based on 

those specified by English Heritage10.  The photographic record was made using 

a medium format camera with perspective control and other lenses, and black 

and white film for archival permanence.  External and internal photographs were 

taken, in most cases using either a 1m or 2m ranging pole marked with 0.5m 

graduations as a scale, and their locations are shown on copies of the plans. All 

the photographs are copied in this report, and in the following description they 

are referred to by numbers in bold.  A small number of external photographs 

was also taken using a digital camera (see Appendix 2). 

 

6.2 The main phase of work was completed during March (following the removal of 

internal fixtures and wall coverings), and a meeting was held with WYAAS to 

approve this stage of recording before development began.  Further recording 

then took place during construction work as a “watching brief”, during June 2012. 

 

6.3 An assessment of the surviving timber frame’s potential for dendrochronological 

assessment was carried out during the watching brief phase, by Ian Tyers of the 

Dendrochronological Consultancy Ltd, but no components suitable for sampling 

were identified (see Appendix 2). 

 

7 Description of the house 

 

Introduction 

 

7.1 Lower Hathershelf faces south-south-east (hereafter south), with its long axis set 

into ground which rises slightly to the west.  Its overall plan is irregular, but 

essentially the house comprises a linear range, flanked by a pair of cross wings, 

with additions at the north-east corner.  The front of the east cross wing is in line 

                                                
8 WYAS Calderdale CMT8/BIP/HB:2713.  Copyright restrictions prevent reproduction 
9 Plan number SE 0225-0325: copyright prevents reproduction 
10 English Heritage 2006 Understanding Historic Buildings: A guide to good recording practice 
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with the main range, but the west cross wing (most of which now forms a 

separate dwelling, and is not discussed in detail here) projects some distance to 

the south (1-7).  At the rear, an outshut to the main range continues at both ends 

into the wings to give a single building line (8,9). 

 

7.2 The present building is faced with local sandstone, laid in deep courses and 

generally cut into large, squared blocks, but there is good evidence that the 

house was fully timber-framed originally, though the details of its form and extent 

at that time are not well understood.  It is clear however that at that early date the 

housebody (or rather open hall) and east wing then comprised four bays, with 

the positions of the cross frames or trusses readily identifiable in the present 

structure by the existence of wall or arcade posts (three of which survive to the 

front and two to the rear), as well as other elements, and although this building 

may have had a single aisle to the rear, in the manner of many such houses in 

the district, this cannot be established from the surviving components of the 

timber frame.  It is also unknown whether or not the timber-framed house 

continued further to the west than the four bays identified, to include any part of 

the present west wing.  The house’s subsequent encasement in stone probably 

took place in the seventeenth century, perhaps in 1671, to judge from the 

prominent label to the housebody window, which is matched by another bearing 

the initials of those responsible, Robert and Mary Swaine (see paragraph 5.1 

above).  It is however possible that the date instead represents only the 

enlargement of this window, in which case the encasement would have been 

earlier.  Later alterations to the house (particularly in the late nineteenth century), 

mean that many aspects of the seventeenth century plan have been lost, 

particularly at the rear. 

 

Exterior 

 

7.3 The front elevation of the house (disregarding the west wing) is predominantly of 

seventeenth century work, and contains the principal entrance to right of centre, 

with housebody window to the left, and to the right a ground floor window to the 

east wing, as well as three first floor windows.  The doorway itself has quoined 

jambs and a Tudor arched lintel, all with a plain chamfer (10), though the stone 

courses around it are rather irregular, suggesting that it has been altered slightly, 

or that the masons were not as adept as they might be at building in stone.  The 

fitted door is nineteenth or twentieth century. 

 

7.4 The doorway gives access to the cross passage at the east end of the main 

range, that part of the building which is dominated by the chief room of the 

house, known as the housebody.  This room is served by a large, eighteen-light 

double-chamfered window which runs up to the angle with the west wing (11).  

The opening is divided by two king mullions and more slender mullions and 

transoms, and has a hood-mould over, the labels to either end of which bear the 
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initials RMS and the date 1671 (12,13); the former has almost certainly been re-

sited, probably when the east side of the west wing was rebuilt on its present 

alignment, in the eighteenth century.  The other front, ground floor window lights 

a parlour in the east wing, and has generally similar detailing in the king mullion 

and double chamfers, but it is only a single light in height, and lacks a hood-

mould (14).  There are however other, more subtle differences between the two 

windows, in the detailing of the mullions and sills (the housebody window has 

broader chamfers to the king mullions, and all its mullions rest on chamfered 

plinths, while in the parlour window their plinths are square in plan): it is thought 

that these anomalies arise because the housebody window has been enlarged 

since the house’s first stone phase (discussed further below), an idea perhaps 

given more weight by non-conformities in the stonework around the upper right-

hand corner of the window. 

 

7.5 The first floor windows in the front elevation vary.  A relatively large, eight-light 

window with transoms lights a chamber in the east wing, and this has detailing 

similar to the parlour window below, but the two single-light windows to the main 

range are not of seventeenth century form.  That within the gablet over the 

housebody window has almost certainly been enlarged to its present size from a 

smaller opening, as its plain form and irregularities in the surrounding stonework 

indicate (15), while the similarly sized one over the doorway has square-faced 

monolithic jambs and is believed to be an eighteenth or nineteenth century 

creation, though this too may have been preceded by a smaller opening, original 

to the stonework. 

 

7.6 There is significant architectural detailing to the gablet in the main range and the 

cross wing’s more substantial front gable: as well as moulded string courses, 

coping and finials, both have skewbacks rather than kneelers, features which 

might be considered anachronistic or old-fashioned for 1671, so perhaps this 

latter aspect points to an earlier date for the stonework, as already surmised 

above. 

 

7.7 The stonework in the east side of the farmhouse is largely post-seventeenth 

century, a result of the addition of the (now demolished) cottages and single 

storey lean-to, probably in the late eighteenth or early nineteenth century (16,17).  

The south part of this east elevation does contain original stonework however, 

though the ground floor window represents a former doorway, inserted to 

communicate between the east wing and south cottage (18).  Immediately to the 

north of this is a chimney breast containing a pair of fireplaces (one hidden by 

the oil tank) (19), and beyond this, an additional late twentieth century stone 

facing has been applied (which obscured another doorway to a cottage inserted 

at first floor level).  The north side of the former cottages now forms the south 

side of what was latterly an agricultural outshut used as a dairy, with single pitch 

roof, and entrance in the east side (20-22).  Map evidence and the form of the 
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building suggest that this outshut formerly extended slightly further to the west 

than at present. 

 

7.8 At the rear of the house there has been substantial rebuilding and alteration.  

The roof of the main range, sandwiched between the two cross wings, descends 

to single storey level to form what is effectively an outshut, and the rear wall of 

this was reconstructed in the 1886 changes, at the same time as a dairy 

projecting beyond it was demolished (8).  The rebuilt wall is characterised by 

slightly shallower courses of more regular stone with rectangular eaves brackets, 

and contains a large, plain two-light window to the kitchen and a similarly plain 

opening to the left, serving the stairs.  The rear wall continues down to cellar 

level, where another two-light window illuminates the 1886 cellar, albeit only via 

a narrow light well (23). 

 

7.9 In contrast, most of the east wing’s rear elevation is thought to be seventeenth 

century fabric, though the fenestration is later (24).  The rear doorway from the 

cross passage emerges here, with its chamfered surround (25), and is likely to 

be in its original position, though probably heightened.  To the left of it, the two 

large, plain windows are undoubtedly nineteenth century, but the narrow, single-

light opening at the north-east corner may be original.  Three large windows light 

the bedroom and later bathroom on the first floor, but these incorporate the lintel 

of an earlier, long, mullioned window, of seven or possibly eight lights (26); the 

sills of the present windows also appear re-used, though perhaps not from the 

same location.  There is moulded coping to this gable, matching that on the front 

elevation. 

 

7.10 A substantial mortared stone wall butts up to the rear of the house, and has a 

dog-leg plan, half-round coping, and a doorway through.  It has stood here since 

the 1890s if not earlier, according to the Ordnance Survey, and was presumably 

intended to separate the garden, to the rear of the main range and west wing, 

from the former farmyard and its livestock to the east, or it may instead reflect 

the division of the house into a number of dwellings. 

 

7.11 The roof of 10 Lower Hathershelf is stone slated throughout and contains a 

number of chimneys of different dates.  A pair of low, stone stacks to the main 

ridge serves early fireplaces in the main range, and these may be unaltered 

since the seventeenth century.  A third, rendered stack on the main ridge, near 

the west wing, is more slender and slightly taller: it is most probably late 

nineteenth century, as is that to the rear outshut, serving the kitchen, and one at 

the north-east corner, also for a kitchen fireplace.  That over the main kitchen 

has been heightened in brick at a subsequent date. 
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Interior 

 

7.12 The plan form of No.10 Lower Hathershelf is of the “hearth passage” type, in 

which the principal entrance leads into a cross passage, positioned to the rear of 

the housebody fireplace (27).  The west side of this passage is distinguished by 

its large, well dressed sandstone blocks, and chamfered plinth and cornice, 

thought to have formed the reredos to the hall or housebody fireplace in the 

timber-framed house, before its exterior was encased in stone, but the character 

of the stonework is different on the other side of the wall (within the housebody), 

possibly because of later changes to the fireplace.11  The north end of this ashlar 

wall, where plinth and cornice return to the west, indicates the former entrance 

into the housebody, though the present monolithic stone door jamb is later and 

now leads into the rear kitchen (28).  The stonework elsewhere in the passage is 

noticeably plainer, though a chamfered plinth exists on the west side, further to 

the north.  Two wall posts from the timber frame survive within the east side of 

the passage: that to the front is barely visible (29), but the rear post, standing on 

a pad-stone beyond the doorway to the parlour, is partly exposed (30-32).  At the 

rear of the passage are the stairs to both first floor and cellar, the latter created in 

the 1886 alterations, the former probably altered at that time too (though the 

stairs were in this position previously) (33), and the rear doorway noted above 

(34). 

 

Housebody 

 

7.13 The housebody, which forms the main living room, was reduced in size in 1886, 

when the present wall between it and the kitchen was moved by about 1.5m to 

the south, and therefore it has lost much of its early character, though several 

individual features remain.   

 

7.14 The present fireplace with plain uprights against the east wall is eighteenth or 

early nineteenth century and was built to hold a range, though subsequently was 

reduced to the present small opening (35).  A narrow stone chimney carries the 

flue through the first floor chamber above, and no evidence was observed for 

any former arrangements of smoke removal in this area, such as corbelling for a 

hood.  At some time previously however, there must have been a larger, open 

fireplace beneath a firehood, as indicated by the characteristic scarf joints in the 

two oak spine beams overhead, which show where a bressumer supporting the 

hood has been removed (36,37).  In the rear wall to the right of the chimney 

breast is a small, blocked recess with shouldered sides, which appears to have 

been a salt box or cupboard (38).   

 

                                                
11 The appearance of this wall is similar to that in the passage at No 3 Marsh Hall, Thurstonland, 
another house which was originally timber-framed (Stephen Haigh 2010 3 Marsh Hall, Marsh Hall 
Lane, Thurstonland, West Yorkshire: Historic Building Record and Assessment) 
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7.15 It should be noted that in the late medieval, timber-framed phase of Lower 

Hathershelf, the housebody or hall would have been open to the roof, and so the 

present first floor frame, comprising the two spine beams as well as chamfered 

and stopped oak joists at 0.6m (2 feet) centres, is clearly a post-medieval 

introduction, probably seventeenth century, though possibly late sixteenth.  

However, the present large window, with its tripartite grouping of eighteen lights 

(39), is too tall to have accommodated the end of a firehood bressumer, so it is 

likely that the window has been enlarged since the house’s first stone phase.  

This may explain some of the non-conformities within the external stonework 

around the window noted previously.  If it is the case that the window has been 

altered, the date of 1671 may refer to that event rather than the principal 

encasement of the timber frame, though of course the datestone may simply 

have been moved at that time (ie. the window would have been altered at some 

time after 1671).  It also implies that when the present window was put in, the 

housebody was given a stone fireplace to replace the timber hood, but if so, no 

traces of such an early stone fireplace survive. 

 

7.16 Early fabric from the timber-framed phase can also be seen in the south-west 

corner of the housebody, where there is a wall post set within the cross wall at its 

junction with the front wall, as well as a mid-rail and three studs with laths and 

daub finish, continuing above the first floor, where an upward brace connects to 

the wall plate (40-44); the front stone wall containing the housebody window 

butts up to this group.  Significantly, the present east side of the west wing 

(projecting to the front of the building) does not align with the wall post, and it is 

believed that this stone wall is an eighteenth century construction (though it 

incorporates the outer side of an earlier, lateral stack).  It is not known whether 

the west wing existed at all before the house was encased in stone, but this 

surviving area of timber framing with daub must in any case have been an 

external wall at that time, and the survival of the daub coating is remarkable in a 

district where so little medieval timber framing was not later hidden from view by 

rebuilding in stone. 

 

Rear outshut 

 

7.17 As noted previously, most of the wall forming the north side of the housebody 

was newly constructed in 1886 (45), to create a large kitchen to the rear (the 

outshut prior to that time comprising only two unheated larders), by reducing the 

area of this living room.  This change was a relatively late response to the well 

established, post-medieval trend for separating the cooking and social areas.  

The new wall does not run the full length of the housebody however, but 

continued the line of an existing wall about 1.5m long at the east end, which had 

hitherto served as a heck, and contains a small recess or keep-hole in the north 

side, of unknown purpose (46,47). 
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7.18 The extent of the 1886 alterations in the rear outshut mean that there is little of 

interest in this area, and because the external wall was then entirely rebuilt, there 

is no opportunity for timber framing to have survived within it (if it existed).  The 

present kitchen fireplace in the west end of the outshut was also put in at that 

date, and an existing doorway to the south of the new chimney breast 

(communicating with the west wing) was blocked, and replaced by a new one to 

the north (48).  The plans showing the 1886 proposals suggest that before those 

alterations, the small room in the west wing beyond this wall (now a pantry (49)) 

was slightly larger, and that there was also a wall dividing what is now the 

kitchen into two larders, as well as a separate dairy attached to the rear of the 

house.  The function of the latter, which was demolished during the 1886 works, 

was then accommodated within a new cellar below the kitchen, incorporating 

stone shelves and brick piers, provided with an outside light well, and remarkable 

for the size of the flagstone ceiling forming the kitchen floor (50,51). 

 

East wing 
 

7.19 The present east wing contains two rooms on each floor, a larger room to the 

front and a smaller one to the rear in each case.  Despite its position beyond the 

passage at the “low” or service end of the house, the principal room on the 

ground floor was apparently a parlour (to judge from the seventeenth century 

fireplace), the upper one an unheated chamber, but their exact functions are not 

certain and in any case may not have been as clear-cut as modern interpretation 

sometimes implies. 

 

7.20 The parlour (which is reached by its own entrance from the cross passage) is a 

well-lit room by virtue of the eight-light south window (52), and has a Tudor 

arched fireplace, with hollow chamfered surround and stops, set flush into the 

east wall (53,54).  This was later replaced by a second fireplace built against the 

west wall (55), perhaps in the nineteenth century, when this end of the building 

became a separate dwelling and the room used as a kitchen, for which the 

earlier fireplace was not suitable.  The separation of this room from the rest of 

the house may also account for the inserted doorway in the south-east corner 

(now a window) (56), and for that in the north side (now blocked) (57).  

Significantly however, the first floor frame is seventeenth century (58) and 

closely matches that over the housebody, though it has been given intermediate 

softwood joists and partly cut out to accommodate a nineteenth century staircase 

(since removed).  To the rear of the parlour, and also reached from the passage, 

is a room latterly used as a back kitchen and described as a scullery in 1886.  Its 

north, outer wall has been re-fenestrated, and the room contains a fireplace and 

adjacent blocked recess in the east side (possibly an earlier fireplace), both likely 

to be nineteenth century (59-60). 
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First floor 
 

7.21 The present stairs to the first floor, which have treads of bull-nosed stone, are 

thought to have been rebuilt in 1886, as the adjacent brick wall suggests, though 

they are in approximately the same position as their predecessors, according to 

the 1886 plans (61,62).  They lead to a landing which extends over the hearth 

passage below, and latterly formed a separate albeit narrow and unheated 

bedroom, with eighteenth or nineteenth century window to the south (63,64).  

The east side of this room contains the remains of the early timber cross frame 

and truss: the splayed heads of both wall posts are exposed, together with the 

principal rafters and those parts of the tie beam and king post which have not 

been removed.  The ridge also appears to be original, and bears a mortice for a 

brace rising from the missing section of king post (65-67).  The outer face of the 

north wall post is also visible, containing pegs for rails running to both east and 

west, and the lintel of the adjacent doorway is formed by the remains of the wall 

(or arcade) plate (68). 

 

7.22 A doorway in the west side of the narrow room over the passage leads to the 

chamber over the housebody, and has two steps up, indicating the difference in 

ceiling levels below.  This chamber, which was only created when the housebody 

was ceiled over, was later provided with a fireplace in the west side, at the end of 

the nineteenth century (69).  As noted above, the window to the front elevation, 

set within the gablet described above, appears to have been enlarged to its 

present size, to judge from the fact that its sill has been cut down below the level 

of the medieval wall plate (70-71).  To the east of this window is the stub of a 

sawn-off tie beam next to a scarf joint in the wall plate, the latter also having a 

peg hole for a wall post which seems to have been entirely removed (72).  The 

west side of the room contains a blocked doorway whose low height suggests it 

pre-dates the raising of the ceiling over the housebody (73), but the north side of 

the room has been entirely removed in the 1886 alterations, leaving a short 

length of brick wall built along the line of the heck on the floor below (74).  The 

ridge over this room has been replaced with one of softwood, but some of the 

original purlins remain in situ; one over the present kitchen, where only a void 

under the low roof occupies the first floor, appears to have been derived from a 

wall or arcade plate (75). 

 

7.23 Within the east wing, the front room on the first floor has been altered in a 

number of ways since the encasement in stone, although the original eight-light 

window to the front elevation survives intact (76).  A straight joint in the north-

west corner of the room suggests that there was once a doorway here, but if so it 

must have been before the west side of the room was built in stone, ie. when it 

was still a thin partition, below the truss which is now set into this wall (77-79).  

Another doorway was put in in the east side to give access to the adjacent 

cottages, in the eighteenth or early nineteenth century (80), while the present 
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fireplace in the west side (which retains its basket grate), is also of that broad 

date (81).  To judge from the masonry, the flue for this fireplace was cut into this 

cross wall, so must post-date it.  The room to the rear of this one is not of 

particular interest, due in part to the altered windows (it was adapted to house a 

bathroom in 1955), and nineteenth century corner fireplace (82-85).  However, it 

is worth noting the form of the coursed stonework in its south wall (which 

contains the blocked doorway described above), as it is of a better quality than 

most of the other internal walls in the house (including that forming the ground 

floor wall directly below), though quite why this should be so is unclear: it is not 

thought to have been an external wall at any time. 

 

7.24 Although timber framing was already evident in the main range of the house, firm 

evidence that this earlier phase of building extended to the area of the present 

east wing was only revealed during the watching brief phase of this recording, 

when the dismantling of the upper part of the east wall brought to light two 

previously unobserved wall posts, fully enclosed within the stonework.  Much of 

that in the front wall had decayed to nothing to leave a void (86), though part of it 

survived at ground floor level, where a mortice for a former mid rail running to the 

north is visible (87).  The north post was found to be much better preserved: its 

splayed head contains the mortice for an upward brace to the cross frame, the 

tenon for a tie beam, and the end of the wall plate (or arcade plate, if the house 

was aisled at that time) (88-91).  The inference that there was a wall plate on the 

line of the present east wall suggests that this was then a gabled end, unlike the 

present cross wing arrangement, and this would fit with the apparent absence of 

two-winged medieval aisled houses in the region; if there had been a cross wing 

at Lower Hathershelf in the late medieval period, it is more likely to have been at 

the upper (west) end.12  

 

Possible gravestone 

 

7.25 One further point requiring mention is the perforated flagstone at the front 

entrance to the house (92): there is a local tradition that this is a gravestone to 

the memory of Sarah, daughter of William Normanton, who died in 1758, which 

has been laid face down.13  There is no inscription on the present upper side of 

this stone and it has not been lifted to examine its lower side or the deposits 

beneath, so no further details of its provenance, or of its function to mark a 

grave, are currently known. 

 

 

 

 

                                                
12 RCHME/WYMCC 1986 Rural Houses in West Yorkshire 1400-1830, p30 
13 See Appendix 1 (WYAAS specification), paragraph 4.1 – source not given 
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8 Conclusion 

 

8.1 The house at Lower Hathershelf undoubtedly existed as a timber-framed house 

in the late medieval period, when it was at least four bays long, and although its 

present form suggests it was an aisled hall (of which there are many examples in 

the district), no firm evidence of this was identified during the present survey.  

The timber-framed house would have had an open hall in the place of the 

present housebody, but the east end is likely to have had an upper floor, perhaps 

a chamber over a parlour, as at present.  The early extent and nature of the west 

end of the house, which was not investigated during this survey, is simply 

unknown at present. 

 

8.2 In common with many such houses, Lower Hathershelf was rebuilt in stone in the 

early post-medieval period, though some elements of the timber framing, and the 

original plan, were retained within the structure.  Whether this event took place in 

1671 (as might be assumed from the datestone) or earlier, has not been proven 

but the present height of the housebody window (to which the datestone is 

attached) cannot be reconciled with the fact that there is evidence for a firehood 

bressumer having been removed from the housebody, an aspect of the house’s 

development which suggests that the present housebody window instead 

represents an alteration to the stonework, rather than its original form.  The 

projecting west wing may have been added to the house in the seventeenth 

century, as part of the initial stone building, but was subsequently altered.  

Relatively little change then seems to have taken place within the house until the 

1886 alterations, which involved the rebuilding of much of the rear outshut 

(perhaps representing the medieval aisle), together with the provision of a new 

cellar. 
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Appendix 1: WYAAS Specification 
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Appendix 2: Dendrochronologist’s statement 
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Appendix 3: List of digital photographs 
 
CD of photographs (in JPG, ORF & DNG formats) deposited with the West Yorkshire 
Historic Environment Record 
 
Number Subject 
D01 Front elevation of the house 
D02 Front elevation of No 10 (housebody and east wing) 
D03 Front elevation of No 10 (housebody and east wing) 
D04 West wing and housebody, from the south-east 
D05 General view of the site, from the south-west 
D06 East side of west wing 
D07 Rear of east wing and rebuilt rear wall of kitchen (1886), from the north-west 
D08 Rear of east wing and west part of house, from the north-east 
D09 Housebody window, from the south-east 
D10 Rear of east wing, from the north 
D11 East end of house, showing site of demolished lean-to cottage and dairy at 

corner 
D12 East side of east wing, showing site of demolished cottage 
D13 East side of east wing, showing chimney breast of cottage fireplaces 
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Appendix 4: Contents of the project archive 
 
To be deposited with the Calderdale office of the West Yorkshire Archive Service 
 
1 file, containing: 

• a copy of the report 
• photographic contact sheets (7 no) 
• site notes (annotated plans etc) 

 
Complete list of black and white photographs taken, in film order 

Photo Film Frame Subject 

6 1 10 East side of west wing 

9 1 11 Rear of west wing and rebuilt rear wall of kitchen (1886), from the north-east 

8 1 12 Rear of east wing and rebuilt rear wall of kitchen (1886), from the north-west 

23 1 13 Light well to 1886 cellar, from the west 

24 1 15 Rear of east wing, from the north 

21 1 16 Dairy at north-east corner of house, from the north-west 

25 1 17 Rear of east wing and west part of house, from the north-east 

16 1 18 East end of house, showing site of demolished lean-to cottage and dairy at corner 

1 1 2 Front elevation of the house 

3 1 4 Front elevation of No 10 (housebody and east wing) 

5 1 5 General view of the site, from the south-west 

4 1 6 West wing and housebody, from the south-east 

2 1 7 Front elevation of No 10 (housebody and east wing) 

11 1 9 Housebody window, from the south-east 

17 2 1 East side of east wing, showing site of demolished cottage 

10 2 10 Detail of front entrance 

51 2 12 Cellar (created 1886), from the south-east 

50 2 13 Cellar (created 1886), from the north-west 

27 2 15 The hearth passage, from the north, showing ashlar reredos to right 

33 2 16 The hearth passage, from the south  

30 2 17 Doorways in east side of hearth passage, with wall/arcade post between 

29 2 18 South-east corner of hearth passage, showing location of wall post 

20 2 3 East side of east wing and dairy at north-east corner 

18 2 4 East side of east wing, showing chimney breast of cottage fireplaces 

19 2 5 
Ground floor fireplace once serving later cottage, from the north-east; second 
fireplace hidden by oil tank 

12 2 6 Detail of initials “RMS” on east side of west wing 

13 2 7 Detail of datestone “1671” at corner of housebody window 

14 2 9 Ground floor window, front of east wing, from the south-west 

28 3 1 Corner of reredos, east side of hearth passage, and adjacent doorway 

39 3 10 The housebody window, from the north-west 

40 3 11 The housebody, from the north-east: note mid rail with studs above, in corner 

45 3 12 The housebody, from the south-east: wall at right dates from 1886 

41 3 13 Detail of studs and mid rail in south wall of housebody, (with west wing beyond) 

42 3 15 
Detail of studs and mid rail in south wall of housebody; wall post just visible within 
cross wall 

48 3 17 Kitchen fireplace, with blocked doorway to west wing, from the east 
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46 3 18 
Kitchen, from the north-west, with walls of 1886 to left and right, the latter butting 
earlier heck  

31 3 3 
Side view of wall or arcade post at north-east corner of hearth passage, from the 
west 

32 3 4 
Outer face of wall or arcade post at north-east corner of hearth passage, from the 
north-east 

7 3 5 General view of the house, with gateway, from the south-east 

35 3 6 Eighteenth/nineteenth century fireplace in housebody, from the south-west  

38 3 7 Infilled salt/spice box in reredos, from the west 

36 3 9 
Detail of floor frame with scarf joints in spine beams, over housebody fireplace, 
from the south-west 

75 4 1 Wall or arcade plate re-used as purlin, over kitchen, from the south-west 

55 4 10 
Eighteenth/nineteenth century fireplace in parlour of east wing, from the south-
east 

57 4 11 Parlour, in front of east wing, from the south-west 

53 4 12 Seventeenth century fireplace in parlour, from the west 

58 4 13 Parlour, in front of east wing: floor frame over, from the south 

34 4 15 Rear doorway at north end of hearth passage  

59 4 16 Back kitchen, in east wing, from the west 

60 4 17 Blocked doorways in south-east corner of back kitchen 

64 4 18 First floor room over hearth passage, from the north 

49 4 3 Small larder in north-east corner of west wing, from the east 

47 4 4 Stone heck, to north of housebody fireplace, from the north 

62 4 5 Stairs to first floor, from the north-west 

61 4 6 Stairwell, from the south-west 

56 4 7 Parlour, in front of east wing, from the north-west  

52 4 9 Parlour window, east wing, from the north-east 

66 5 1 
Top of south wall post and remains of truss, to east of hearth passage, from the 
west 

81 5 10 
Chamber over parlour, east wing: eighteenth/nineteenth century fireplace, from the 
east 

78 5 11 Chamber over parlour, east wing, from the south-west 

85 5 12 Rear chamber, east wing, from the west 

79 5 13 Rear chamber, east wing, from the north-east 

68 5 14 
Rear chamber, east wing: doorway, from the north, showing wall or arcade post at 
left 

84 5 16 Rear chamber, east wing, from the south-east 

82 5 17 Rear chamber, east wing, from the south-west 

83 5 18 Rear chamber, east wing, from the south-west 

63 5 2 First floor room over hearth passage, from the south 

65 5 4 
Top of north wall post and remains of truss, to east of hearth passage, from the 
west 

67 5 5 Remains of truss and ridge over hearth passage, from the north-west 

80 5 6 Chamber over parlour, east wing, from the north-west  

76 5 7 Chamber over parlour, east wing, from the north 

77 5 8 Chamber over parlour, east wing, from the south-east 

37 6 1 
Chamber over housebody, from the south-west, showing eighteenth/early 
nineteenth century stack for housebody fireplace 

74 6 10 Chamber over housebody, from the south 

71 6 11 Window in gablet to chamber over housebody, with wall plate to either side 

92 6 12 Threshold at front entrance (possible grave marker) 

15 6 13 Gablet to chamber over housebody 

26 6 15 Rear of east wing, upper part, from the north-west 
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22 6 16 Interior of dairy at north-east corner of house, from the north-east 

70 6 3 Chamber over housebody, from the north 

72 6 4 
Chamber over housebody: stub of sawn-off tie beam, and scarf joint in wall plate, 
south wall  

69 6 5 
Chamber over housebody, from the north-east, showing exposed studs in corner, 
and 1886 fireplace 

43 6 6 
Chamber over housebody: exposed studs and brace, with daub covering below 
wall plate, and lath and plaster above 

44 6 7 
Chamber over housebody: exposed studs and brace, with daub covering below 
wall plate 

73 6 9 Chamber over housebody: blocked doorway to west wing 

87 7 1 
Remains of post at south-east corner of house (ground floor), revealed during 
repairs 

86 7 2 Remains of post at south-east corner of house (first floor), revealed during repairs 

54 7 4 Seventeenth century fireplace in parlour, as revealed during repairs 

89 7 5 Remains of post at north-east corner of house (first floor), revealed during repairs 

90 7 6 Remains of post at north-east corner of house (first floor), revealed during repairs 

88 7 7 Remains of post at north-east corner of house (first floor), revealed during repairs 

91 7 9 Remains of post at north-east corner of house, with adjacent flues 
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Figure 1: Location maps 
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